FILED SID J. WHITE

AUG 9 1991

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

TOMMY RICHARDSON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 76,829

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR JACKSON COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR #271543

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Tommy Richardson is the appellant in this capital case. The record on appeal consists of five volumes, and references to the record proper will be by the the letter "R" and references to the transcript by the letter "T."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Jackson

County on April 6, 1990 charged Tommy Richardson with one count

of first degree murder (R 1). Subsequently, the State and

Richardson filed several pre-trial motions or notices relevant

to this appeal:

- 1. Motion to Suppress Statements (R 66-68). Denied (T 278, 317).
- 2. Notices of Similar Fact Evidence (R 84).
- 3. Motion in Limine (R 88-89). Denied in part (R 325).
- 4. Motion for Appointment of Expert and Motion for Continuance (R 93-95). Denied (R 332).

Richardson proceeded to trial before the honorable Robert L. McCrary and was found guilty as charged (R 131). The jury also recommended the court sentence the defendant to death (R 145-46). He moved for a new trial (R 162-63), but the trial court denied that request (R 763). It then sentenced Richardson to death, and in support of that sentence, it found in aggravation:

- 1. that Richardson had committed the murder in an especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel manner.
- 2. the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

In mitigation, the court found that Richardson:

- 1. had no significant history of prior criminal activity.
- 2. committed the murder while he was under

the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance.

- 3. was sincerely remorseful.
- 4. had attempted suicide shortly after committing the murder. $\,$

(R 173-76).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

By the end of 1989, 38 year old Tommy Richardson had lived with Irene Newton and her six children for four or five years (T 492). For the past three years they had lived in a trailer in Campellton, a small community near Marianna and just south of the Florida-Alabama state line (T 492). Shortly after Christmas, Irene tossed Tommy out of the trailer (T 492). He returned several times during the week before New Years Eve asking his common law wife to talk with him (T 506). In particular he came to the trailer on December 30, but Irene told him to go away, and she told one of her children to call the police (T 505). When they showed up, Richardson ran into the nearby woods, but he returned as soon as they had gone (T 505). He told Irene that he had heard everything she had said to them, and he was going to kill her (T 505).

On New Years Eve, Irene planned to go to a fish fry, and she was dressed up to go out (T 517). She also had been drinking, and had a blood alcohol content of .21 (T 664). Shortly before 8 p.m. Richardson showed up and again wanted to talk with Irene. He was told she did not want to talk with him, but Irene cracked the door to the trailer a bit, and the defendant forced his way in (T 495). They began arguing until Richardson pulled a pocketknife out (T 496). Apparently, he was not very forceful with it because as Irene advanced on him, he backed up. By this time, the couple was outside of the trailer and so were some of her children (T 496-97). They

continued to argue and Richardson walked down the side of the trailer with Newton following him (T 497).

When Richardson got to the end, he reached for the shotgun he had laid on the tongue of the trailer and brought it up under his arm and shot Irene (T 498). She fell down, and as her children ran for help, Tommy stood over her in shock, looking at her body (T 550). A few minutes later he shot himself (T 599).

When the police showed up, Irene was dead from the blast to her chest (T 650), and Richardson was taken to a hospital in Alabama (T 260, 558). He recovered from his wound and was discharged from the hospital, and he went to stay with his sister nearby (T 283-88). He stayed with his sister in Madrid, Alabama where the police found him on January 18, 1990 and arrested him for the murder of Irene Newton. He willingly went with the arresting officer, and on the way to jail, he told the policeman that he loved Irene, and he had bought the shotgun from a stranger near Graceville and had carried it under his coat as he walked to the trailer in Campellton (T 596).

¹Richardson later said he shot himself when he threw the shotgun down, but the firearms expert said the gun could not have discharged accidentally (T 614-15).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Richardson presented nine arguments: three guilt phase and six penalty phase issues. Before trial, the court denied Richardson's motion to suppress statements he had made to the police. The police questioned the defendant while he was on pain medication. Because Richardson is mentally retarded, the combination of drugs and low intellect combine to render the statements he made to the police involuntary.

Immediately before trial, the State disclosed the results of the firearm expert who had examined a shotgun shell found at the scene of the homicide. Richardson complained about the tardy discovery and requested a continuance so he could find an expert to examine the evidence, but the court said "we can go ahead without too much damage to you." The court should have granted the continuance especially since this evidence was important (there being the possibility of another shotgun used) and the imminence of the trial precluded any independent verification of the State expert's testimony.

During its closing argument, the State characterized Richardson's defense as asking for mercy. It responded to that argument by urging the jury to "give him, the same mercy that he gave Irene Newton that night." Such a plea improperly asked the jury to disregard their oaths to view the evidence dispassionately and instead give vent to the natural emotional revulsion one feels towards murderers.

The court, in sentencing Richardson to death, found that he killed Newton in an especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel manner. That was error because the murder was instantaneous, and Newton could not have been aware of her impending death for more than a few seconds before Richardson fired the fatal shot.

Likewise, the murder was not committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner largely because the facts relied upon by the sentencing court do not show the heightened premeditation this court has required for this aggravating factor to apply. Looking at the totality of the evidence available to the court abundantly demonstrated that Richardson was mentally retarded, under the influence of drugs or alcohol, and acting "crazy" on the night of the murder. The manner in which the defendant committed the homicide does not show the heightened premeditation, the deliberate planning this court has required for this aggravating factor to apply.

The court also overlooked the significant mitigation present. In its sentencing order, it never acknowledged that Richardson was mentally retarded or that on the night of the murder he was "most certainly" under the influence of drugs or alcohol. Failing to consider this mitigation, especially when defense counsel specifically urged it was error.

When the last three issues are looked at together, it becomes very evident that this is not a death case. Instead it falls into the "domestic dispute" category which has almost (but not always) mitigated a death sentence.

The court failed to define what the terms "heinous,"

"atrocious," or cruel meant. Recent United States Supreme

Court case law strongly suggests that the language used by this court in State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1972) to define those terms is inadequate. That the trial court in this court failed to provide even that definition only compounds the court's error.

Finally, relying upon the law in the previous issue,
Richardson argues that the court never informed the jury that
the premeditation required to find the murder was committed in
a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner, had to be a
"heightened" type. Merely reading the jury the standard
instruction on this aggravating factor, which only tracked the
statutory language, insufficiently apprised that body of the
important limitation this court has put on applying that
aggravating factor.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING RICHARDSON'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS HE HAD MADE TO THE POLICE ON TWO OCCASIONS, IN VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Richardson, because he had shot himself in the chest, was taken to a hospital in Alabama on New Year's Eve for treatment of his self-inflicted wound (T 260). About two weeks later, on January 12, two police officers went to the hospital where the defendant was recovering, and after reading him his rights, questioned him (T 264-65). The police left, and some time later, Richardson was discharged from the hospital, and he went to live with his sister to complete his recovery (T 280). January 18, officer Walter Davis of the Jackson County Sheriff's office arrested and handcuffed Richardson at her house (281-83). Before leaving, his sister gave him his medication (T 287-89). On the return trip, Richardson began talking with Officer Davis, who had known the defendant for most of his life (T 280). Mostly, he talked about how he felt about Irene (T 291), and Davis did not say much more than "I know, Tommy." Finally, however, he told him that he was going to have to read him his rights if continued talking to him, which he did (T 292-93). Davis then asked him about the killing, and Richardson told him he had bought a shotgun and used his coat to cover it as he walked from Graceville, a town four miles from where Irene lived (T 294). He also related

that he had hidden the gun at the trailer and had gotten Irene outside on the pretense of talking with her (T 295). He ended his statement by saying how much he loved her and regretted shooting her (T 301).

As to the statement made on January 12, Richardson denied understanding what the police had told him about his rights (T 275-77). At the time they questioned him, he was on pain medication and he could not think clearly (T 273-74). Regarding the January 18 statement, he said he was still feeling "pretty bad." (T 312) When Davis asked him what had happened, Richardson said he did not know anything more than Irene had gotten shot (T 312). He then laid down in the back seat and rested until he got to the jail (T 313).

The court, after hearing Richardson's motions to suppress his statements, simply denied them saying, "Okay. I'm going to deny your motion. I believe it is admissible." "And I will deny this one, too." (T 278, 314) That was error because the court never made the unequivocal and explicit finding of voluntariness this court has required. McDole v. State, 283 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1973). The court also erred in denying Richardson's motions because the State never established by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant freely confessed. Brewer v. State, 386 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1980).

In <u>McDole</u>, this court, relying upon law from the United States Supreme Court², said,

We do not believe that such `unmistakable clarity' appears simply from the trial judge's statement that the motion to suppress the confessions is denied.

Id. at 554.

"voluntary," Antone v. State, 382 So.2d 1205 (Fla. 1980), merely denying the motion without more does not satisfy the need for unmistakable clarity. Moreover, because Richardson was under arrest when he made his last statement, the court had to make a such a finding. DeConingh v. State, 433 So.2d 501, 503 f.n. 3. (Fla. 1983).

In McDole, this court also explained why the law required such a specific, "nit-picking" finding:

Without a specific finding, we do not know if the judge properly based his ruling of admissibility on the issue of voluntariness, and we cannot infer a specific finding of voluntariness simply from a specific denial of a motion to suppress. The judge might have based his denial of the motion on the idea that any error in admitting the confessions would be harmless, or he might have felt that the primary determination of voluntariness should have been left to the jury.

Id. at 554.

 $^{^2}$ Sims v. Georgia, 385 U.S. 538, 87 S.Ct. 639, 17 L.Ed.2d 593 (1967) held that "Although the judge need not make foral findings of fact or write an opinion, his conclusion that the confession is voluntary must appear from the record with unmistakable clarity."

In a normal case, the State has a heavy burden to carry when it wants to show that a defendant freely and voluntarily gave a statement to the police. See, Tennell v. State, 348 So.2d 937 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977); Hall v. State, 421 So.2d 571 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982). In this instance, it was particularly onerous because Richardson presented ample evidence suggesting that he was mentally retarded (R 168). His lack of schooling beyond the sixth grade (T 272) and his inability to read or write even though he was 38 years old (T 273) should have alerted the court that Richardson lacked at least an average mental capacity. 3

Richardson is not saying the mentally retarded cannot freely and voluntarily confess. But when his mental deficiency was so painfully obvious, as this court can see by reading his garbled statement of January 12 (SR 1-35), the State and the court should have taken extra precautions to ensure that this retarded defendant had voluntarily talked with the police.⁴

³Ellis and Luckason, "Mentally Retarded Criminal Defendants," 53 <u>George Washington Law Review</u>, 414, 449-50. "A number of indicators might provide early warning of a capacity problem. One would be to identify whether the suspect is literate. Another approach is to ask about the suspect's educational background." Id. (footnotes omitted.)

⁴For example, the police, when they interrogate a retarded defendant, could make sure the <u>Miranda</u> warning is "given in a clear and unhurried fashion." Ellis and Luckason, "Mentally Retarded Defendants" p. 450. Richardson's counsel raised the issue of the defendant's competency first by a "Suggestion of Insanity" (R 16) in which he alleged Richardson was not (Footnote Continued)

Mentally retarded defendants present unusual problems for the police and courts because of their intellectual deficiency. For example, those suffering from this learning disability typically want to please authority figures:

However, the desire to please authority figures does appear to be a powerful motivator. Many persons with mental retardation, especially those who have experienced institutionalization, have a particular susceptibility to perceived authority figures and will seek the approval of these individuals even when it requires giving an incorrect answer.

Their learning disability manifests itself in other ways, which, to one unaware that a suspect is retarded, may pass unnoticed. Many retarded persons cannot speak well and do not understand what is spoken to them. "Therefore, it would not be unusual for a mentally retarded individual to be . . . able to provide only garbled or confused responses when questioned." In this case, Richardson's January 12 statement readily supports this point (SR 1-35). For example, on page 8, Officer

⁽Footnote Continued)
"mentally competent at the time of the alleged crime and is not now mentally competent to stand trial." (R 16) His motion to suppress statements (R 67-68) also raised the voluntariness issue.

⁵Ellis and Luckason, "Mentally Retarded Criminal Defendants," pp. 414, 431-32; See also Mental Subnormalities of Accused as Affecting Voluntariness or Admissibility of Confessions, 4 ALR 4th 16.

⁶Id. at 428

Birge asked Richardson how he had gotten to Newton's trailer on the night of the killing:

BIRGE: How did you get there that night?

RICHARDSON: Sir?

BIRGE: How did you get down to her place

that night?

RICHARDSON: I walked.

BIRGE: Walked from where?

RICHARDSON: Well I ain't never leave you know, cause she had never, I had never took all my clothes from there, she had never told me definitely (sic) you know to get out.

BIRGE: Right.

RICHARDSON: Cause I didn't have where to go.

On subsequent pages, Richardson's narrative wanders, and it is unclear whether he is talking about the events on the night of the killing or some earlier time (SR 13-16). The temptation is just to skip reading the statement because its disjointed meanderings are confusing and difficult to follow. Yet, such garble clearly indicates a feeble mind unused to mental demands attempting to answer questions beyond its capabilities.

This brick layer also had "never been in nothing like this in [his] life," (T 276) and that unfamiliarity with the criminal justice system as well perhaps as the basic facts of

society must have some weight in evaluating the totality of the circumstances surrounding the voluntariness of his statement.⁷

Other evidence also suggests that Richardson did not voluntarily confess while in the hospital. When the police questioned the defendant, he had just been taken out of the intensive care unit at the hospital (T 271). He was in pain, though he had just been given some medication, and he could not think clearly (T 274). As he told the policemen at the start of their interrogation, he felt "pretty bad now." (SR 2)

The statement made after his arrest fares no better. He was still in a lot of pain and on medication when the police arrested him and returned him to Florida (T 308, 312). The pain apparently was so bad that he had laid down on the back seat of the car on the trip (T 313).

In <u>DeConingh v. State</u>, 433 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1983), the defendant was hospitalized shortly after she had killed her husband. She was admitted for having "lost touch with herself" and her attending physician had treated her with thorazine and valium. A friend, who also happened to be a police officer, tried to get a statement from her then, but her lawyer told him to leave, which he did. Two days later he returned, and over her attorney's advice she told the officer what had occurred.

⁷Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938); Ellis and Luckason, <u>Mentally Retarded Defendants</u>, p. 431, 450.

This court affirmed the trial court's suppression of the statement because the officer had taken advantage of his friendship with DeConingh, she was incapacitated because she had been drugged, and the officer failed to make sure she understood her rights. <u>Id</u>. at 503. In this case, particularly as to the January 18 statement, we have a similar situation.

Officer Davis had known Richardson for most of his life (T 280), and when questioned, the defendant was in pain and feeling the effects of his medication. Also, in light of Richardson's mental retardation, Davis as well as the other officers should have taken greater care to insure Richardson understood his rights. But there was no evidence that any policeman made any special effort to insure the defendant actually understood anything.

The State, in short, presented nothing to rebut
Richardson's claim that when the police questioned him that he
was under the influence of his pain medication. And when that
evidence is coupled with his mental retardation and all that
necessarily means, the court erred in not making a specific
finding that Richardson freely and voluntarily gave the
statements to the police officers. More significantly, the
court also erred in denying the motion because the State never
carried its heavy burden of showing by a preponderance of the
evidence that Richardson freely, intelligently and voluntarily
agreed to talk with the police.

Of course, to merit a reversal such error must have been harmful, and how could it have been so when so many people watched Richardson shoot Newton? As to that fact, there is no dispute, but as to the defendant's intent, there is plenty, and his statements clearly had important relevance there. For example, he told one officer that he had bought the shotgun that killed Irene in Campellton and had walked from the state line to the trailer with it under his coat (T 596). evidence could have supported a conclusion that he had thought about killing Irene for a long time. The court, in fact, used this part of Richardson's statement to justify finding the aggravating factor that murder cold, calculated, and premeditated (R 174). Thus, if the court recognized the importance of Richardson's confession to prove his premeditation, it cannot be said beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have ignored it in finding him guilty of premeditated murder.

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