SEP 30 1991

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 76,829

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

TOMMY RICHARDSON

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

GISELLE D. LYLEN
Florida Bar #0508012
Assistant Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
P.O. Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441

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

reluctance to allow him to enter and their attempt to keep him from reentering, and the fact that several of the children, including one who armed herself with a kitchen knife to protect her mother, followed Irene outside after the defendant had forced open the door. The cases relied upon by the defendant are thus distinguishable since the victims in those cases had no forewarning of their killers' intention toward them and had no fear of impending death prior to the shot. See and compare: Amoros v. State, 531 So.2d 1256 (Fla. 1988) (HAC not applicable where record reflected defendant did not know victim and shot victim within two minutes of entering premises with intention of shooting former girlfriend). This Court has, however, upheld the finding of HAC where a victim suffers mental anguish as a result of a defendant's actions which cause them to anticipate their own death. Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1100, 109 S.Ct. 1578, 103 L.Ed.2d 944 (1989), habeas corpus denied, 569 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 1990). Here, the defendant stalked the victim for days, coming to her home and harassing her, breaking in and standing over threatening to kill her. The defendant's conduct in this case is thus even more egregious than that set forth in Mills v. State, 462 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 911, 105 S.Ct. 3538, 87 L.Ed.2d 661 (1985) in which the Court upheld the finding of HAC due to the mental anguish a victim suffered by being stalked for a short period of time immediately prior to his death since here, Irene had days in which to anguish over the defendant's threats. See also: Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d

194 (Fla. 1985). The mental anguish suffered by Irene Newton is much like that suffered by women who undergo what is universally recognized, in both legal and scientific circles, as battered wife syndrome since she was aware of what the defendant would do powerless and was to protect herself. The distinguishing factor is that Irene's death resulted before she could bring about the defendant's death. In Ohio v. Koss, 49 Ohio St.3d. 213, 217 (1980) the court found that "the basis for the woman's perception of being in imminent danger of severe bodily harm or death at the hands of her partner" was the element utilized in determining the state of mind of defendant [the battered wife who kills the battering spouse]. Irene obviously, as a result of the defendant's prior actions, had such an imminent fear of death. The Battered Woman Syndrome, Lenore E. Walker, Springer Publishing Company. This Court must thus recognize this ongoing fear prior to the time the threat was carried to fruition as more than sufficient to supply a basis for the trial court's finding that the murder was heinous, atrocious, and cruel.

ν.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT THE DEFENDANT'S MURDER OF IRENE NEWTON WAS COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED WITHOUT ANY PRETENSE OF LEGAL OR MORAL JUSTIFICATION.

The defendant contends that the trial court erred in finding that the murder of Irene Newton was cold, calculated,

premeditated without pretense of legal and ormoral justification (CCP) since it "took a very selective reading of the evidence produced at trial to support its finding" and because the evidence showed "a mentally retarded defendant acting upon a poorly thought-out plan of how to win back what he had lost." (Defendant's brief page 31). This argument not only ignores the facts as determined by the trier of fact, it also seeks to urge a point of view not employed by the defense during the penalty phase.

The defense graciously concedes that the facts set forth by the trial court may show some premeditation, but then goes on to argue that other evidence raises a reasonable doubt as to whether a plan had been formulated by the defendant. It is beyond belief to assume that an individual who threatens to kill someone and who admits returning to that individual fully armed with the intention to lure her outside where he can use the weapon is there to woo the object of his affections back into his life. Flowers and candy would be far more appropriate not to mention effective.

The defendant attempts to argue his mental retardation as proof of his inability to formulate a plan. The State would respectfully point out, once again, that this was not argued to the court or to the jury. Instead, it was presented to the court after the presentation of penalty phase evidence was completed immediately prior to sentencing. Clearly, the trial court, who was in the best position to assess the defendant did not find him to be mentally retarded or did not find any slight

impairment he may have had to be of any influence in his actions so as to rise to the level necessary to constitute mitigation. Doyle v. State, 460 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1984); Lara v. State, 464 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 1985). The defendant, in conjunction with his claim of mental retardation, argues that his lack of education also prevented him from being able to formulate a careful, prearranged plan to effectuate Irene's death. The record refutes the fact that because of his lack of formal education he was unable to succeed in life and work independently since the defendant's own testimony at various stages of the proceedings was that he made between three and four hundred and fifty dollars a week. Again, the trial court observed the defendant and did not feel that his lack of formal schooling was a factor that would prevent him from devising a plan. To the contrary, the record clearly reflects that the court found that the defendant had such a plan since, by his own admission, he procured and concealed a weapon before arriving at the trailer, he planned to and did lure Irene outside, and then shot her in the chest. The defendant's argument that he had no plan as he did not try to prevent Irene from receiving help is absurd. The medical examiner testified that even if immediate help was available, she would not have survived given the nature of the wound. The fact that she did not call for help is also of no avail since she could not see the weapon until she reached the tongue of the trailer; similarly the fact that she could have called for help does not change anything since what help could her children and sister be when faced with a loaded shotgun. The

defendant's argument as to both points is insulting at best to individuals who are either deprived of a formal education or who are mentally retarded, since they have historically despite their "disabilities" contributed to society.

Finally, the facts rebut the defendant's claim he acted as a result of a deficient mind running out of control. The defendant's own testimony established that this was not a crime of passion committed on impulse. He came to the trailer armed to kill and when Irene told him to go, he pulled out a shotgun from where he had hidden it and killed her. The trial court correctly found that CCP applied in this case. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1986), <u>cert. denied</u>, 483 U.S. 1010, 107 S.Ct. 3241, 97 L.Ed.2d 740 (1987), <u>reh. denied</u>, 483 U.S. 1041, 108 S.Ct. 11, 97 L.Ed.2d 801 (1987).

VI.
THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING
TO FIND EVIDENCE PRESENTED IN MITIGATION
WHICH WAS CONTROVERTED BY THE RECORD.

The contends that pursuant to the dictates of Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1990), the trial court was obligated find mitigating evidence in the form of his retardation and alcohol and drug use and thus reversible error by failing to do so. Campbell does not stand for the proposition that the trial court is obligated to find mitigating evidence so long as any basis, no matter how meager, appears in the record. Instead, it holds that a trial court need only find as a mitigating factor each proposed factor which is mitigating in nature and which has been reasonably established by the weight of the evidence. "This is a question of fact and one court's finding will be presumed correct and upheld on review if supported by "sufficient" competent evidence in the record." Brown v. Wainwright, 392 So.2d 1327, 1331 (Fla. 1981). It is therefore clear that before a trial court is obligated to find evidence in mitigation it must be supported by sufficient and competent evidence in the record. Here, as established below, the matters the defendant argues in mitigation were controverted by the record and the trial court acted within its discretion in rejecting them.

The defendant once again argues his mental retardation or learning disability compelled the court to find this an element in mitigation. The State readopts its argument set forth in the previous issue as to CCP with regard to the defendant's alleged though set mental retardation as forth in its Additionally, absolutely no evidence whatsoever was presented as to any learning disability suffered by the defendant. It would also point out that Campbell did not become final until the time that rehearing was denied on December 13, 1990 and nothing in that opinion mandates retroactive application of the principles established by it even if it did apply to this case.

The defendant's case in support of his claimed alcoholic and drug abuse at the time of the crime is equally weak. The only support the defendant cites to in his brief is the fact that Dr. Walker stated in his evaluation that he was "almost

certainly" under the influence at the time. However, not only does Walker fail to set forth what facts substantiate this statement, it is clear that the doctor was not himself convinced of the defendant's drug and alcohol abuse. Even more significant is the fact that the record is devoid of any evidence to support the defendant's claim he was on drugs either at the time of the offense or on a regular basis. The defendant's own testimony during the case was that Irene and her family had been drinking the night of the murder, but that he had not.

Record support for the defendant's claim that he had an abused childhood is also absent. The sole reference to his childhood was that he quit school early to help support his family. While this is unfortunate, it certainly does not rise to the level of an abused childhood. In fact, the defendant's sister, Estelle Snell, testified during the penalty phase that the defendant had a happy childhood. She did not mention an abused childhood, substance abuse, or mental deficiencies in any manner whatsoever, matters of which, as a close relative, she would have had personal knowledge had they been present. As a result, the argument with regard to this issue must fail.

VII.
THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN
SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT TO DEATH.

The defendant contends that the trial court erred in sentencing him to death alleging that the sentence imposed is

disproportionate to that for other similar crimes. He bases this assertion on the fact that he crime was "domestic" in nature. Contrary to the defendant's position, however, this court has, in other instances, upheld imposition of the death penalty in where the parties had some sort murders relationship. Porter v. State, 564 So.2d 1060 (Fla. (Imposition of the death sentence for the killing of an ex-lover and her boyfriend found not to be disproportionate).

In this case, unlike those cited to by the defendant, the record is devoid of any reference to ongoing domestic problems between the defendant and Irene. The defendant's own testimony revealed that they had a number of good years together before the relationship ended and the defendant stated that they had not been fighting. This case is also distinguished from those cited to by the defendant since the record is equally devoid of any evidence that he was operating under the influence of drugs or alcohol at the time of the crime. As previously stated, the conjectures of a defense psychiatric expert which are purely speculative in nature and which are rebutted by the defendant's own testimony simply do not provide support for this fact. Other claimed elements of mitigation are also easily disposed of; the State would respectfully rely on the argument relating thereto in prior issues. The State will however, address the defendant's claim that he was acting and looking "crazy" at the time of the murder. The record establishes that the children described the defendant as "angry" and "mean", not simply crazy. The addition of these terms certainly changes the impact of the defendant's

argument. The testimony of the children who made the statements must also naturally be viewed in light of the circumstances. Anyone who brandishes a knife and arrives armed with a weapon, which is pointed indiscriminately at innocent people, is going to appear crazy to someone who does not see fit to behave in such a manner. Furthermore, nothing in the record would justify the defendant's interpretation of the testimony as a clinical diagnosis of the defendant's mental condition, since nothing establishes the children's competence to make such a diagnosis. Thus, it is clear, that the choice of this term was a result of the leading questions of defense counsel and was also an attempt to categorize a behavior that was alien to them. To murder someone is not normal behavior to most people.

The State would also rebut the defendant's contention that he did not brood for a long time about killing Irene. It is inconceivable that the defendant carried a weapon for miles on foot, taking pains to conceal it, but did not intend to use it. To the contrary, he admitted to the police that he left the gun by the trailer where it could not be by someone leaving the trailer and also admitted that he lured Irene outside under the pretext of talking to her. The evidence must be viewed in the State's favor with all reasonable inferences resolved against the defendant. The facts do not support the defendant's version of what occurred. His desire to commit suicide is also rebutted by his own testimony in which he denied trying to do himself in. His actions must also be analyzed in light of the possibility that he did not want to face possible punishment, a fact

substantiated by his repeated statements to the effect that he did not know, or more likely did not want to face, possible punishment for his actions.

The defendant's position also ignores the fact that the jury, by an overwhelming recommendation, voted in favor of the death penalty. The jury was obviously in the best position to in evidence, evaluate the credibility of the facts view witnesses, and weigh both the aggravating and mitigating factors presented. As this Court has recognized in countless cases, many of them dealing with jury overrides, the jury's recommendation is entitled to the greatest of weight and deference. Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975). The rationale applied to those cases is therefore equally applicable here. The trial court, after conducting its own independent evaluation as required by law, found no rational reason to disagree with the jury's recommended verdict. For all of these reasons, the trial court correctly imposed the death penalty.

VIII.
THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT REVERSIBLY ERR
IN ITS JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE
AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF HEINOUS,
ATROCIOUS, AND CRUEL TO WHICH THE

DEFENSE DID NOT OBJECT.

The defendant contends that the trial court erred in its jury instruction regarding the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious and cruel which he claims was inadequate, although he concedes that it was the standard form instruction. This issue has been repeatedly raised by defendants in this Court and has been soundly rejected.

In the first instance, the defendant contends that the factor of jury instruction on the aggravating "HAC" unconstitutionally vaque, citing to Maynard v. Cartwright, 484 , 108 S.Ct. 1853, 100 L.Ed.2d 372 (1988) and its progeny. Maynard, however, has no applicability to Florida's sentencing scheme. The defendant's argument, in its entirety, has been considered and rejected by this Court. Smalley v. State, 546 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1989); Dixon v. State, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); Hildwin v. Florida, 109 S.Ct. 2055, 104 L.Ed.2d 728 (1989), reh. denied, 109 S.Ct. 3268, 1106 L.Ed.2d 612 (1989). defendant's argument fails for this reason Additionally, as no objection to the standard instruction was made at trial and no request for additional instruction was made, the matter is not preserved for the appellate review of this court. Vaught v. State, 410 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1982); also see: Bottoson v. State, 433 So.2d 962 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 873, 105 S.Ct. 223, 83 L.Ed.2d 147 (1984).

IX.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT REVERSIBLY ERR IN ITS JURY INSTRUCTION OF THE AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF COLD, CALCULATING, AND PREMEDITATED TO WHICH THE DEFENSE DID NOT OBJECT.

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